# FILED

SID J WHITE

NOV 2 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

ν.

Case No. 84,610

CYNTHIA MARIE RIVERS, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state seeks appellate review of a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, which expressly declared invalid a portion of the state wiretap statute. §934.07 Fla. Stat (1991). This court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(B)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii).

The district court's decision relates the facts as follows:

"This matter arose out of an investigation conducted by Agent William McQue of the Orlando Police Department, who was acting as a special investigator for the Metropolitan Bureau of Investigation. McOue was investigating an alleged prostitution Through physical surveillance, ring operating in Orlando. undercover police investigation and confidential informants, McQue had cause to believe appellees were engaged in prostitution However, McQue believed that he could not and related crimes. obtain the evidence necessary to prosecute these indivuduals without using wiretap surveillance. As such, pursuant to section 934.09(1)(a) of the Florida Statutes, McQue filed an affidavit and application for an order authorizing the interception of wire, oral and electronic communications. After considering the application, the court issued an order authorizing the State to install and use a wiretap device on certain telephone numbers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record on appeal as originally filed had missing pages, and was confusing. A supplemental record at pages 273-334 contains a complete copy of all of the pleadings necessary for resolution of this appeal.

including those listed in the name of appellee Rivers' husband and three escort businesses that Rivers operated.

"As a result of the intercepted communications, the State charged all of the appellees with violations of section 895.03, Florida Statutes (1991) (RICO), a first degree felony, and section 796.07(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1991)(prostitution), a Additionally, two of the appellees were charged misdemeanor. section 796.07(2)(d), Florida Statutes with violations of transporting for the purpose (1991)(directing orprostitution), a misdemeanor. Rivers was also charged with one violation of section 796.05, Florida Statutes (1991)(deriving support from the proceeds of prostitution), a third degree The appellees filed motions to suppress the evidence obtained through the use of the wiretap surveillance. The court granted the motions and this appeal ensued." State v. Rivers, et al., 19 Fla. L. Weekly D 1728 (Fla. 5th DCA August 12, 1994).

The district court compared the state's wiretap statute to its "federal counterpart", 18 U.S.C. §2516(2), which permits a state to enact a statue authorizing interception for a certain enumerated offenses, "...or any other crime dangerous to life, limb or property, and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year..." The court observed that "the key issue in this case is whether the crime of prostitution is dangerous to life, limb or property and punishable by imprisonment of more than one year." State v. Rivers, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D 1728 (Fla. 5th DCA August 12, 1994). Prostitution "arguably meets the first prong" of dangerousness to life, limb or property, held the court, but

it is misdemeanor and so fails the second prong. The the felony of deriving proceeds from prostitution "meets the second requirement, (but) it fails to meet the first because it is not 'dangerous to life, limb or property.'" Id. Nor could the state rely on the first degree felony of RICO because the application for an order authorizing interception of wire, oral and electronic communications sought permission to intercept acts in violation of Chapter 796.

The district court affirmed the trial court's order which held:

...that to the extent that Florida Statute 934.07 permits the authorization of wiretaps to investigate prostitution not involving the use of force or any danger to life, limb, or property, or interstate commerce, it contravenes the requirements of Title 18 U.S.C. Section 2515(2). Consequently, the wiretaps used in this case are invalid and the evidence gleaned from them is hereby suppressed.

The State of Florida contends that the trial court and the district court's decision are incorrect as a matter of law where, as here, the subject of the investigation is a felony violation of the prostitution statute.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower courts abused their discretion in holding that the Florida wiretap statute was unconstitutional as exceeding the scope permitted by the applicable federal statute because a prostitution-related felony is not a crime dangerous to life, limb or property. All of the evidence in this case was that prostitution is a high risk activity which increases likelihood of contracting the AIDS virus. The Florida legislature has recognized the link between sexually transmitted diseases like AIDS and prostitution. §796.08, Fla. Stat. (1991). Additionally, the federal government permits federal enforcement officers to intercept wire, oral or electronic communication for "prostitution offenses in violation of the laws of the State in which they are committed". This constitutes factual findings by both the state and federal legislatures that prostitution is dangerous to life, limb, or property.

Moreover, all of the appellees were charged with RICO. §895.03, Fla. Stat. (1991). Organized crime is dangerous to limb, property. The legislature has orprostitution as a predicate offense of RICO, an implicit finding criminals combine to engage in commercial prostitution network as is alleged in this case, the object of the criminal enterprise is dangerous life, limb, and property.

The decision under review fails to adhere to the well established principle that acts of the legislature are presumed valid and must be interpreted in a manner that upholds it whenever possible.

#### ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURTS IMPROPERLY RULED THAT THE FLORIDA WIRETAP STATUTE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS EXCEEDING THE AUTHORIZATION CONFERRED BY THE FEDERAL OMNIBUS CRIME CONTROL AND SAFE STREETS ACT.

Section 934.07, Florida Statutes, (1991), permits a court to enter an order allowing law enforcement officers to intercept wire, oral or electronic communications for investigations of

...murder, kidnapping, arson, gambling, robbery, burglary, theft, dealing in stolen property, prostitution, criminal usury, bribery, or extortion; any violation of chapter 893...896...815...847...or any conspiracy to commit any violation of the laws of the state relating to the crimes specifically enumerated above.

This statute must be read in conjunction with the federal wiretap statute, 28 U.S.C. §2516(2), which grants to states power to enact statutes to provide for wiretaps in the investigations of:

...murder, kidnapping, gambling, robbery, bribery, extortion, or dealing in narcotic drugs, marihuana or other dangerous drugs, or other crime dangerous to life, limb, or property, and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, designated in any applicable State statute authorizing such interception, or any conspiracy to commit any of the foregoing offenses. (emphasis added)

Appellant agrees that states may enact more stringent standards regarding the use of wiretaps within its borders, but may not allow wiretapping which exceeds the boundaries of the federal statute without running afoul of the state and federal constitutions. That portion of a state statute purporting to permit wiretaps for misdemeanors or crimes not dangerous to life, limb or property is invalid and should be severed.

The state's position in this appeal is that the district court erred in holding that the felony crime of deriving proceeds from prostitution is not dangerous to life, limb or property. Cynthia Rivers was charged with the crime of deriving support from the proceeds of prostitution in violation of section 796.05, Florida Statutes (1991), a felony. It was Rivers' telephone that was tapped.

The state contends prostitution and prostitution related felonies are dangerous to life, limb or property due to Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome, orAIDS. Leading health organizations all agree that AIDS is a major public health problem. The record contains ample support for the proposition that prostitution is a high risk activity which greatly increases the chance of contracting the AIDS virus. The state contends that in the 1990's, prostitution is a crime which his dangerous to life, limb, and property due to the fact that it unquestionably a high risk activity which can cause AIDS. Moreover, a traditional reason for retaining prostitution as a criminal offense is that it is associated with other crimes like robbery, extortion and other crimes which are dangerous to life, limb, or property.

The Florida legislature has recognized the link between prostitution and sexually transmitted diseases including AIDS by requiring that anyone convicted of prostitution must be tested. §796.08, Fla. Stat. (1991). This statute constitutes a factual finding by the legislature that prostitution is a dangerous crime.

Moreover, the federal government has made a legislative finding that prostitution is a proper subject of the wiretap statute. 2 Federal law enforcement officers are permitted to use wiretaps to investigate any business enterprise prostitution offenses where that business enterprise involves interstate commerce. 28 U.S.C. §2516(1); 28 U.S.C. Although this federal statute does not support Agent McQue's actions in this case, it does provide support for the state's argument that Congress has determined that prostitution and prostitution related offenses are dangerous to life, limb or property. The lower courts improperly substituted its judgment on the dangerousness of these crimes for that of the state and federal legislatures.

The state contends that the trial court erred as a matter of law in determining in the face of undisputed evidence that prostitution is a crime that is not dangerous to life, limb, or property. The trial court's requirement of a threat or use of violence is not grounded in law or fact. Dangerousness is more than overt violence.

All appellees were charged with one RICO count where the predicate offenses were prostitution. Organized crime is dangerous to life, limb, or property. It is immaterial that the predicate acts are prostitution. RICO charges can be predicated on misdemeanor crimes. State v. Adkins, 553 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The legislature has already determined that

As noted in the motion for rehearing, the district court misinterpreted the state's reliance upon this federal statute.

prostitution is a dangerous crime when criminals combine in an enterprise to further this illegal activity. §895.02(1)(a)17, Fla. Stat. (1991). Once again, the lower courts erred in substituting its judgment for the legislature on a matter of policy.

The application for the wiretap order detailed a pattern of racketeering activity involving organized prostitution as defined by this chapter such that the court abused its discretion in ruling that the wiretap application did not allege a felony crime dangerous to life, limb, or property. This case involves an organized criminal network and not a casual, one-time, consensual encounter between two adults. As the state argued below, the inclusion of some misdemeanor crimes with the valid felony offenses permitted under the wiretap statute did not invalidate the wiretap order. United States v. Savaiano, 848 F. 2d 1280 (10th Cir. 1988). The misdemeanors were mere surplusage.

The district court rejected this argument on the ground that the authorization for wiretap order stated that the object of the investigation was violations of Chapter 796. However, this places an additional requirement not present in the statute or decisional authority. The person or place to be searched or seized must be described with particularity, and there must be describe a criminal sufficient facts to offense, but no requirement that the specific criminal statute be referenced. Section 934.09(1)(b)(1), Florida Statutes (1991), requires the application to provide details as to the particular offense, and this application and supporting documentation satisfies that

requirement.<sup>3</sup> The application detailed how the businesses were set up to advance the criminal enterprise. The absence of a statutory reference to Chapter 895 does not preclude reliance upon this admittedly dangerous first degree felony crime to support the wiretap order in this case.

Appellant recognizes that the state's wiretap law cannot exceed the authority conferred by the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act, 18 U.S.C. 2516. State v. McGillicuddy, 342 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). However, the trial court ignored the well-established legal principle that acts of the legislature are presumed valid and must be interpreted in a manner that upholds it whenever possible. Tal Mason v. State, 515 So.2d 738 (Fla. "Reviewing courts, of course, should grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishment for crimes." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290; 103 S.Ct 3001, 3009; L.Ed.2d 637 (1983)A statute will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Kinner, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981).

The legislature has recognized the connection between prostitution and sexually transmitted diseases including AIDS. §796.08 Fla. Stat. (1991) The only evidence in this case is that prostitution endangers life. Moreover, organized crime, whatever its purpose, is dangerous to life, limb, and property. The

The Affidavit and Application alleges that the subjects "are violating Chapter 796 of the Florida Statutes concerning prostitutionand the unknown persons who are their conspirators, confederates or who are above, below, or on the same level of the criminal activity as them....(R 275)

legislature has included prostitution within the predicate offenses for RICO, an implicit if not explicit finding that when organized, prostitution is dangerous. The courts below erred as a matter of law in striking the Florida wiretap statute as an unconstitutional exercise if the power conferred to the Florida Legislature.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and authority presented, appellant respectfully requests this honorable court to reverse the order granting the appellees' motion to suppress and remand for further proceedings.