# FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 29 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA By\_\_\_\_\_

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

Case No: 84,610

CYNTHIA MARIE RIVERS, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

REISS, HILLMAN & REISS ADAM B. REISS Florida Bar No: 501557 203 E. Hillcrest Street Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 841-9051

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES BLOOM AND WIGGINS.

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record in this case consists of three volumes including the transcript of Motion to Suppress Proceedings, which were held on March 17, 1993, the Court file, as well as a supplemental transcript of record totaling 334 pages. All references to the record will be designated by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the Motion to Suppress Transcript will be designated by the letter "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

The State will be referred to in this brief as the Appellant and Defendants, Bloom and Wiggins will be referred to as the Appellees.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellees, Bloom and Wiggins, accept the facts presented by the Appellant, in their initial brief, as being a correct general statement of the facts of the case, however, Appellees do not stipulate that the authorization for Wiretap Order included all the necessary predicates in compliance with chapter 934 of Florida Statutes.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the Florida Wiretap Statute was unconstitutional. The State exceeded the scope permitted by the applicable statute because Prostitution is not a crime dangerous to life, limb, or property. Based upon the applicable State and Federal Statutes, the Federal Code does not authorize wiretap for prostitution unless it involves interstate or foreign commerce. In the case as bar there was no evidence of any interstate activity. Further, when considering the three classifications of generic criminal activity subject to wiretap; National i.e. Security, Intrinsically Dangerous Activities, or Activities Characteristic to Organized Crime, the Trial Court was correct in granting the Motion to Suppress.

Although, Count One of the charging document, i.e. the RICO charge, is punishable by a possible penalty of greater than one year, the crime must <u>also</u> fit within the crimes enumerated in title 18 U.S.C. 2516(2), i.e., said crimes are not adherently "dangerous to life, limb, and property" as defined in said section. Further, RICO was charged due to the illegally obtained evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

## THE TRIAL COURT AND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY RULED THAT THE FLORIDA WIRE TAP STATUTE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS EXCEEDING THE AUTHORIZATION CONFERRED BY THE FEDERAL OMNIBUS CRIME CONTROL AND SAFE STREETS ACT.

The authorization for application for wire tap in the case at bar was issued pursuant to the State Attorney requesting that Agent McHue be allowed to intercept wire communications relative to acts allegedly in violation of Chapter 796 of the Florida Statutes. This chapter generally prohibits prostitution related activities. Appellees contend that the State's wire tap law exceeds the authority conferred by the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act, 18 U.S.C. 2516. It is well established that the State is not authorized to exceed parameters of permissible State Regulation set out under this title without running afoul of the supremacy clause, U.S. Const. Art. IV, Cl. 2 see <u>State v. McGillicuddy</u>, 342 So.2d 567(Fla. 2 DCA 1977). The State has exceeded the parameters of permissible State regulation set out under Title 18 U.S.C. 2516(2), running afoul of the supremacy clause for the following reasons:

1. Title 18 U.S.C. 2516(2) enumerates the types of charges in which the State may obtain surveillance orders i.e., murder, kidnapping, gambling, robbery, bribery, extortion, narcotic drugs, marijuana, dangerous drugs, or <u>other crimes dangerous to life</u>.

<u>limb</u>, or property, and punishable by imprisonment for more than one <u>year</u>(emphasis added).

2. Title 18 U.S.C. 1952, entitled "interstate and foreign travel or transportation in aid of racketeering enterprises" provides: (a) whoever travels in interstate or foreign commerce or uses the mail or any facility in interstate or foreign commerce with the intent (1) to distribute the proceeds of any unlawful activity; or (2) commit any crime of violence to further any unlawful activity; or (3) otherwise promote... any unlawful activity.... Section (b) defines "unlawful activity" as used in this section as (1) any business enterprise involving gambling, liquor..., narcotics..., or prostitution offenses in violation of the laws of the states in which they are committed or of the United States...."

3. 18 U.S.C. 1961, 1962, and 1963 define "racketeering activity" and refer to prohibited activities which affect interstate or foreign commerce.

It is apparent, in the case at bar, that there is absolutely no evidence of interstate activity and considering the three classifications of generic criminal activity subject to wire tap i.e., National Security, Intrinsically Dangerous Activities, or Activities Characteristic of Organized Crime, the Court was correct in finding no basis to establish the lawful interception of wire or oral electronic communications. Further, there is nothing in the authorization for application for interception of wire, oral, and electrical communications, the application for pen register and trap and trace device authorization, nor the Order authorizing the

interception of wire, oral, and electronic communication which alludes to this prostitution ring being dangerous or that it is characteristic of "organized crime" as a term generally interpreted.

Appellees, Bloom and Wiggins, are solely charged in Count I of the charging document with RICO, and three counts of prostitution Accordingly, the RICO count solely relies upon (R 76-96). misdemeanor charges which do not carry a possible penalty of greater than one year and further more are not within the gambit of the crimes enumerated in Title 18 U.S.C. 2516(2). Further, the State has asserted that the RICO violation makes the wiretap valid. The request for the wiretap order was not based on RICO. Rather, the State specifically sought permission to intercept wire communications relative to acts allegedly in violation of Chapter 796 of the Florida Statutes, entitled "Prostitution." The RICO charges materialized after the State obtained evidence through the interception of communications pursuant to the wiretap order. The test is the sufficiency of the allegations contained in the request for the wiretap authorization and not the evidence of other crimes discovered as a result of the interception.

The Appellant, in the case at bar, stresses the increased threat of contracting HIV, or AIDS with the increase of sexual partners in this prostitution business. The Appellant's concern for public safety is well appreciated, but improperly applied. Although HIV, or AIDS, is dangerous to life, allowing the interception of wire, or oral communications because of same contravenes the Supremacy Clause and opens the door to the

interception of wire, oral communication in a myriad of other inappropriate situations.

In the case of <u>People v. Shapiro</u>, 431 N.Y.S.2d 422 (1980), a case factually comparable to the instant case, the New York Court of Appeals held that, although the wire tap would be valid under state law, same was invalid due to the fact that it exceeded Federal Statutory Authority. In the Shapiro case, the Defendant was charged in a 64 count information involving a course of homosexual sodomitic acts on various occasions over 17 months with eight different boys under 17 years of age whom he paid for sex. The Defendant was also charged with promoting such activity in two other cases with two other young boys. The Shapiro Court, making frequent references to Senate Report 1097 stated, at page 433, the following:

> The provisions of title 3 do more than codify bare constitutional requisites; they manifest a Congressional design to protect the privacy of wire and oral communications by confining State authorization for eavesdropping by wiretap to what Congress' in view are appropriate and compelling circumstances... (T)he crimes considered serious enough to warrant investigation by wiretap, namely "murder, kidnapping, gambling, robbery, bribery, extortion, or dealing in narcotic drugs, marijuana or other dangerous drugs, or other crime dangerous to life, limb, or property, and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, designated in any applicable State statute authorizing such interception, or any conspiracy to commit any of the foregoing offenses"

> > • • •

The list was to represent a class of major offenses that were either "intrinsically serious or \*\*\*(were) characteristic of the operations of organized crime"...(W)ith the exception of gambling and bribery, the designated crimes all involve harm or the substantial threat of harm to the person, a "limitation (expressly) intended to exclude such offenses as fornication and adultery" from the permissible scope of electronic surveillance... These criminal activities involved only consensual conduct, to which, as already indicated, the legislative history tells us the Federal statute does not extend the reach of permissible wiretapping.

The Court further stated, at page 432, that:

while it is possible for such crimes to involve the use of forcible compulsion, the State wiretapping statute is not framed with this particularity, and there was no indication from which the police could have reasonably suspected that Shapiro's alleged criminality partook in any measure of either violence or coercion.

Although wiretaps are authorized in Florida by Chapter 934, Florida Statutes (1992), the statute contains detailed provisions relating to the contents of applications for wiretaps, standards for issuance of wiretap authorizations, conduct of the taps, use of evidence derived from the taps, and grounds for suppression. The Florida Supreme Court, in re: Grand Jury Investigation, 287 So.2d 43(Fla.1973) held that the statute is an exception to the Federal and State Constitutional right to privacy and must be strictly construed and narrowly limited in it's application by the specific provisions set out by legislature. (Emphasis added). It must be noted that Federal law has preempted the field of wiretaps and any State law regulating the interception of same must provide safe guards that are at least as stringent as those set out in the Federal Statute, State v. McGillicuddy, 342 So.2d 567(Fla. 2 DCA 1977)Supra. In State v. Aurilio, 366 So.2d 71(4 DCA 1978), a case involving gambling, the significant portion of the decision stated

that a warrant could issue to intercept and investigate suspected gambling offenses, as designated by section 934.07 <u>and</u> as authorized by the Federal Statute.

۲

`

#### CONCLUSION

The case at bar is not within the authorization of the Federal Statute and accordingly, the Trial Court properly suppressed the evidence declaring that the wiretaps used in the case were invalid and the evidence gleaned from them suppressed. It is respectfully requested that the Trial Court's Order suppressing evidence and the decision of the District Court be affirmed.